**IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI
NO. 2010-CA-00362**

**STACEY PICKERING, in his capacity
as Auditor for THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,**

APPELLANT

VS.

**THE LANGSTON LAW FIRM, PA, JOSEPH C.
LANGSTON, TIMOTHY R. BALDUCCI,
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI, LUNDY & DAVIS, LLP
and AYLSTOCK, WITKIN, KREIS & OVERHOLTZ**

APPELLEES

**APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF
HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT**

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

**HARRIS JERNIGAN & GENO, PLLC
Arthur F. Jernigan (MSB [REDACTED])
Craig M. Geno (MSB [REDACTED])
Samuel L. Anderson (MSB [REDACTED])
587 Highland Colony Parkway
Post Office Box 3380
Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158-3380
Phone (601) 427-0048

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1) Whether the Attorney General's authority regarding the source of payment for special counsel hired by his office has been expressly limited by Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7?
- 2) Whether the Langston Firm's negotiation and receipt of \$14 million in the MCI/Worldcom Settlement Agreement was illegal under Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7, and therefore, void as a matter of public policy?
- 3) Whether the Retention Agreement with the Langston Firm was illegal for failure to include any mechanism for legislative approval of the compensation provided therein?
- 4) Whether the case of *Pursue Energy Corporation v. Mississippi State Tax Commission*, 816 So.2d 385 (Miss. 2002) prohibited the diversion of funds directly to special counsel to the Attorney General from the opposing party during a settlement with the State of Mississippi?
- 5) Whether the \$14 million obtained by the Langston Firm as a result of the State of Mississippi's settlement with MCI/Worldcom constituted public funds?
- 6) Whether outside special counsel may negotiate directly with an opposing party during settlement discussions with the State of Mississippi in order to bypass the requirements of Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7?
- 7) Whether the State Auditor has the right and obligation to seek the return of misspent public funds pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 7-7-211(g)?
- 8) Whether the State Auditor waived any right to seek the return of public funds obtained by the Langston firm in a cause of action in bankruptcy court in New York to which the State Auditor was not made a party?
- 9) Whether the payment of funds to special counsel to the Attorney General directly from the opposing party in a settlement with the taxpayers of the State of Mississippi was a violation of the Mississippi Constitution and the separation of powers doctrine?
- 10) Whether the reasonableness of the fees paid to special counsel is an inherent issue to be determined by the Mississippi Legislature during the appropriations process mandated by Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7?

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

On July 21, 2002, Worldcom, Inc. and its related entities (hereinafter collectively “MCI/Worldcom”), filed voluntary petitions pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York. The Mississippi State Tax Commission (hereinafter “the State Tax Commission”) filed proofs of claim seeking more than \$1 billion in unpaid taxes, penalties and interest from MCI/Worldcom. (C.P. 7-8)

On September 29, 2004, the Attorney General for the State of Mississippi, Jim Hood, retained the Langston Firm, Joseph C. Langston and Timothy R. Balducci (hereinafter collectively “the Langston Firm”), as special counsel to assist with the proof of claim on behalf of the State Tax Commission. (R.E. 1, C.P. 188)¹ On May 6, 2005, after filing the proof of claim, the Langston Firm and the Attorney General settled the State Tax Commission’s \$1 billion claim without trial, entering into a Settlement Agreement and Release (hereinafter “the Settlement Agreement”). (R.E. 2, C.P. 194) Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, MCI/Worldcom agreed to pay the State of Mississippi a total of \$118,200,000.00 and relinquish some of its real property in downtown Jackson, Mississippi for the release and satisfaction of all tax claims. As to payment of these funds, the Settlement Agreement provided that MCI/Worldcom would transfer \$100,000,000.00 to the State of Mississippi, \$14,000,000.00 directly to the Langston Firm, and \$4,200,000.00 to the Children’s Justice Center of Mississippi. (C.P. 206)

On November 20, 2006 and March 12, 2007, pursuant to Mississippi Code Ann. § 7-7-211(g), the State Auditor made demand on the Langston Firm for return of the \$14,000,000.00 transferred directly to it for violating Mississippi law requiring special counsel to be paid from funds

¹ Record Excerpts are cited as “R.E. _”. The Clerk’s Papers are cited as “C.P. _”.

appropriated by the Mississippi Legislature. (C.P. 223) Consistent with this position, on October 19, 2006, the State Auditor made demand on the Justice Center for return of public funds to the State of Mississippi. On January 26, 2007, the Justice Center complied with the Auditor's demand and returned the funds received by it to the State general fund for appropriation by the Legislature.

The Langston Firm responded to the State Auditor's demand by instituting a separate cause of action in the Bankruptcy Court in New York (hereinafter "the Adversary Proceeding"), seeking a declaratory judgment that the State Auditor was precluded by principles of estoppel and waiver from challenging the court approved settlement or from proceeding with this cause of action. Thus, the State Auditor was forced by the Langston Firm to hire counsel and make an appearance in the Adversary Proceeding in New York.

On December 21, 2007, the State Auditor moved for abstention (the "Abstention Motion") in the Adversary Proceeding, requesting that the dispute be resolved through the current proceeding. On April 2, 2008, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York granted the State Auditor's Abstention Motion, holding that the particular issues raised and disputed over the allocation of attorneys fees and legislative appropriation under state law were not part of the settlement process in the New York Bankruptcy Court, and therefore, needed to be resolved in this lawsuit in Mississippi. (R.E. 3, C.P. 736-44)

On November 17, 2008, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York affirmed the Abstention Order on appeal, agreeing that the dispute over the funds obtained by the Langston Firm from the State's settlement should be resolved in the present cause of action in Mississippi. (R.E. 4, C.P. 1116-26)

While the Adversary Proceeding in New York was being resolved, the Langston Firm removed the current cause of action to the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi. On July 8, 2008, the District Court remanded this cause of action, concluding that this cause of action was purely a state law dispute that did not affect the prior bankruptcy resolution, resolution of the State's claim against MCI/Worldcom or any other bankruptcy matters. (R.E. 5, C.P. 147)

On August 5, 2008, the State Auditor filed his Motion for Summary Judgment in the current cause of action. (C.P. 167) On September 8, 2008, the Langston Firm responded with its own Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment. (C.P. 269) On December 4, 2008, the Attorney General filed an Entry of Appearance in this cause. (C.P. 1147) On January 15, 2009, the Attorney General filed a Motion to Realign the Parties, arguing that the State of Mississippi was not represented and was a separate entity from the State Auditor. (C.P. 1166) On April 16, 2009, the circuit court realigned the parties, finding that the State of Mississippi was a separate entity and should be joined as a party defendant in this cause. (C.P. 1285)

On April 9, 2009, a hearing on the State Auditor's Motion for Summary Judgment was held in circuit court. (Tr. 15-72)² On April 24, 2009, the Attorney General submitted his own Motion for Summary Judgment in this cause, without any hearing subsequently held on that motion. (C.P. 1289) On February 11, 2010, the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi granted the Attorney General's Motion for Summary Judgment and Langston Firm's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment and denied the State Auditor's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R.E. 6, 7, 8; C.P. 1711,

² References to the hearing transcript are cited as "Tr. __" The transcript may be found at Volume 13 of the Clerk's Papers.

1712, 1716) In its ruling, the Circuit Court held that the funds negotiated by the Langston Firm during the State's settlement discussions were not public funds and that the State Auditor had waived any right to seek return of the funds obtained by the Langston Firm through the MCI/Worldcom bankruptcy proceeding. (C.P. 1712-15)

On February 26, 2010, the State Auditor filed his Notice of Appeal. (C.P. 1717) As will be demonstrated herein, all \$118,200,000.00 of the settlement funds obtained as the result of the State of Mississippi's settlement with MCI/Worldcom were public funds, including the \$14,000,000.00 transferred to the Langston Firm, and should have been tendered to the State of Mississippi which was the real party litigant in the MCI/Worldcom proceeding. Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7, special counsel appointed by the Attorney General must be subsequently paid from funds appropriated by the Legislature. Accordingly, the decision of the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi should be REVERSED and RENDERED.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mississippi Code Ann. § 7-5-7 provides that private attorneys hired as special counsel to the Attorney General "shall be paid out of the attorney general's contingent fund, or out of any other funds appropriated to the attorney general's office." There is no dispute in this case that special counsel hired to assist the State Tax Commission with claims against MCI/Worldcom were not paid from the attorney general's contingent fund or other legislative appropriation. The Langston Firm instead arranged for the transfer of \$14 million of the State's settlement funds directly to itself during settlement negotiations. Strict interpretation of Mississippi Code Ann. § 7-5-7 prohibited their diversion of these funds without legislative oversight or appropriation.

Illegal provisions of a contract cannot be enforced as a matter of public policy. The provision of the Settlement Agreement directing that \$14 million of settlement funds be transferred directly to the Langston Firm was prohibited by Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7, and therefore, void as a matter of public policy. In this same respect, the Retention Agreement's failure to require that compensation of special outside counsel be from legislative appropriation is fatal to it as well.

The Mississippi Supreme Court already resolved this issue in favor of the State Auditor's position in *Pursue Energy Corporation v. Mississippi State Tax Commission*, 816 So.2d 385 (Miss. 2002). In reaching that decision, the Mississippi Supreme Court relied upon the sworn testimony of the Attorney General who explained that the proper legal procedure for compensating private special counsel requires that all settlement funds negotiated for and on behalf of the State of Mississippi be tendered to the State followed by special counsel's application to the Legislature for appropriation of fees. Special counsel in *Pursue Energy* expressly modified their retention agreements to provide for legislative review so as to pass the scrutiny of the Mississippi Supreme Court under Miss. Code. Ann. § 7-5-7.

The lower court expressly agreed to the interpretation of Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7 asserted by the State Auditor, but concluded that the disputed funds obtained by the Langston Firm were not public since they were negotiated and transferred directly from the opposing party. Despite the mechanics of the settlement payments, all funds were tendered as the result of the settlement of delinquent taxes owed to the State of Mississippi. The means by which the State of Mississippi's attorneys arranged for their compensation was merely an elusive shell game designed to bypass the legislative safeguards of Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7.

There was no waiver of claims by the State Auditor who has the independent statutory authority and duty to seek return of misspent public funds pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 7-7-211(g). The United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York which approved the settlement, the United States District Court for the Southern District Court of New York which affirmed, and the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi which remanded this cause of action back to state court all held that the State Auditor did not waive his ability to litigate the issues raised in this lawsuit. The circuit court also held in its realignment of the parties that the State Auditor was a separate entity from the State of Mississippi. Accordingly, the State Auditor did not waive his authority to contest the legality of the disputed payments under Miss. Code Ann. § 7-7-211(g).

Strict interpretation of Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7 is consistent with the constitutional right and duty of the legislative branch of government to control the public treasury. The reasonableness of fees paid to special counsel is an inherent issue to be determined by the Mississippi Legislature during the appropriations process mandated by Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7. Accordingly, the decision of the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi should be REVERSED and RENDERED.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

Judicial review of the applicability and effect of statutory law first requires a determination of whether the statute in question is ambiguous. *Mississippi Power Co. v. Jones*, 369 So. 2d 1381, 1388 (Miss. 1979). Where the language used by the legislature in a statute is plain and unambiguous and conveys a clear directive, there is no occasion to resort to rules of statutory construction. *Miss Power Co. v. Jones*, 369 So. 2d 1381, 1388 (Miss. 1979); *Forman v. Carter*, 269 So.2d 865 (Miss.

1972); *State v. Heard*, 246 Miss. 774, 151 So.2d 417 (1963); *Harrison County School District v. Long Beach School District* 700 So. 2d 286, 288-89 (Miss. 1997). Whether or not there is ambiguity, the ultimate guiding factor in the interpretation of a statute is to discern and give effect to legislative intent. *Anderson v. Lambert*, 494 So. 2d 270, 372 (Miss. 1986). It is a fundamental rule of statutory construction in Mississippi that use of the word “shall” establishes an absolute requirement under the applicable statute. *Division of Medicaid v. Mississippi Independent Pharmacies Ass’n*, 20 So. 3d 1236, 1239 (Miss. 2009). Statutory interpretation and other questions of law are reviewed *de novo* by the Mississippi Supreme Court. *Powe v. Byrd*, 892 So.2d 223, 227 (Miss. 2004); *Arceo v. Tolliver*, 19 So. 3d 67, 70 (Miss. 2009); *Sheppard v. Miss. State Highway Patrol*, 693 So.2d 1326, 1328 (Miss. 1997).

I. Strict interpretation of Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7 prohibited the diversion of \$14 million to the Langston Firm from the State of Mississippi’s settlement with MCI/Worldcom without legislative approval.

Mississippi Code Ann. § 7-5-7 provides the following with regard to the employment and payment of special counsel by the Attorney General:

§ 7-5-7. Special counsel and investigators.

The governor may engage counsel to assist the attorney general in cases to which the state is a party when, in his opinion, the interest of the state requires it, subject to the action of the legislature in providing compensation for such services.

The attorney general is hereby authorized and empowered to appoint and employ special counsel, on a fee or salary basis, to assist the attorney general in the preparation for, prosecution, or defense of any litigation in the state or federal courts or before any federal commission or agency in which the state is a party or has an interest.

The attorney general may designate such special counsel as special assistant attorney general, and may pay such special counsel reasonable compensation to be agreed upon by the attorney general and such special counsel, in no event to exceed recognized bar rates for similar services.

The attorney general may also employ special investigators on a per diem or salary basis, to be agreed upon at the time of employment, for the purpose of interviewing witnesses, ascertaining facts, or rendering any other services that may be needed by the attorney general in the preparation for and prosecution of suits by or against the state of Mississippi, or in suits in which the attorney general is participating on account of same being of statewide interest.

The attorney general may pay travel and other expenses of employees and appointees made hereunder in the same manner and amount as authorized by law for the payment of travel and expenses of state employees and officials.

The compensation of appointees and employees made hereunder ***shall be paid out of the attorney general's contingent fund, or out of any other funds appropriated to the attorney general's office.***

(emphasis added).

The Attorney General hired the Langston Firm as special counsel pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7 to assist with the prosecution of claims against MCI/Worldcom for unpaid taxes. In its negotiation of the Settlement Agreement between MCI/Worldcom and the Tax Commission, the Langston Firm arranged for its receipt of \$14,000,000.00 directly from MCI/WorldCom, instead of seeking payment of its legal fees from the Attorney General's contingent fund or any other funds appropriated or approved by the Mississippi legislature. (C.P. 206) It remains undisputed that the \$14,000,000.00 ultimately obtained by the Langston Firm for its legal work was not from the Attorney General's contingent fund nor from any funds appropriated by the Legislature to the Attorney General's office.

It is a fundamental and constitutional principal of law that while the Attorney General's Office has general authority to pursue litigation of behalf of the State of Mississippi, it must yield to any express statutory limitations on that authority. *Frazier v. State ex rel. Pittman*, 504 So. 2d 675, 687-90 (Miss. 1987) ("all public officers, including the Attorney General, are subordinate to the

laws of this State”); *State v. Warren*, 180 So. 2d 293, 300 (Miss. 1965)(Attorney General clothed with common law powers “except insofar as they have been restricted or modified by *statute* or the State Constitution”). Here, the Attorney General’s authority regarding the final compensation of outside counsel is one of those aspects that has been expressly limited by statute. Any other holding ignores an entire section of Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7. *See Davis v. Miller*, 32 So. 2d 871 (Miss. 1940)(court cannot ascribe meaning to statute that renders part of statute meaningless).

Where the language used by the legislature in a statute is plain and unambiguous and conveys a clear directive, it must be strictly construed. *Miss Power Co. v. Jones*, 369 So. 2d 1381, 1388 (Miss. 1979); *Forman v. Carter*, 269 So.2d 865 (Miss. 1972); *State v. Heard*, 246 Miss. 774, 151 So.2d 417 (1963); *Harrison County School District v. Long Beach School District* 700 So. 2d 286, 288-89 (Miss. 1997). Pursuant to the plain and unambiguous terms of Mississippi Code Ann. § 7-5-7, compensation of these special assistants “shall” be paid directly from the attorney general’s contingent fund or out of funds appropriated to his office. It is a fundamental rule of statutory interpretation in Mississippi that “shall” means absolutely mandatory. *Franklin v. Franklin*, 858 So. 2d 110, 115 (Miss. 2003). Accordingly, strict interpretation of Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7 requires reversal of the circuit court decision and the return of these funds to the State of Mississippi for appropriation.

II. Illegal contract provisions contained in the MCI/Worldcom Settlement Agreement and Retention Agreement are void as a matter of public policy.

Illegal provisions of a contract cannot be enforced as a matter of public policy. It is a principal of public policy that no court will lend its aid to a litigant who bases his cause on an illegal act. *Price v. Purdue Pharma Co.*, 920 So. 2d 479, 484 (Miss. 2006); *Morrissey v. Balogna*, 123 So. 2d 537 (Miss. 1960)(court will not aid litigant whose actions are in violation of statute); *Lowenberg*

v. *Klein*, 87 So. 653, 654-55 (1921)(contract provisions in violation of state or federal statute will not be enforced). As to portions of a contract that violate state or federal statute, courts will not enforce those provisions “but will leave the parties where found, -insofar as any illegal items or portions are concerned.” *Chas. Weaver & Co. v. Phares*, 188 So. 12, 13 (Miss. 1939); see *Attaché v. Golden*, 133 A.D. 2d 596, 519 N.Y.S.2d 702 (2nd Dept. 1987)(Where agreement consists in part of unlawful objective and in part of lawful objectives, court may sever illegal aspects and enforce legal ones, so long as illegal aspects are incidental and not main objective of agreement); *Kidder Peabody v. IAN International*, 28 F. Supp. 2d 126, 139 (S.D.N.Y. 1998)(conclusion that portion of contract is illegal does not preclude enforcement of legitimate provisions of agreement).

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