IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-CA-00362

STACEY PICKERING, in his capacity as Auditor for THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

VS.

i

THE LANGSTON LAW FIRM, PA, JOSEPH C. LANGSTON, TIMOTHY R. BALDUCCI, LUNDY & DAVIS, LLP, AYLSTOCK, WITKIN, KREIS & OVERHOLTZ and THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

BRIEF OF APPELLEE THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

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

⁸ Barbour's reasoning should apply to the Attorney General with full force. The Attorney General is a constitutional officer. MISS. CONST., art. 6, § 173. He is the "chief legal officer and advisor for the state, both civil and criminal, and is charged with managing all litigation on behalf of the state" and vested with the "powers of the Attorney General at common law." MISS. CODE ANN. § 7-5-1.

judge" of compensation to be paid retained counsel. Counsel can be retained on a fee basis agreed upon between the Attorney General and retained counsel, without legislative involvement. At a very minimum, the Court should find that this *permissible* interpretation by the Attorney General – the constitutional officer charged with carrying out the duties prescribed by the statutes – trumps any other motivations or argument by the Auditor to the contrary. *See Rayner*, 47 So. 3d at 135 (Randolph, J. concurring) (explaining "...our standard of review does not allow reversal of an administrative decision simply based upon whether we agree or disagree with the branch or agency empowered to make the decision.").

In sum, the Attorney General construed his common law and statutory authority to allow retained counsel's contingency fees to be paid by MCI. The deference required by *Barbour* is another reason that neither that determination by the Attorney General, nor the trial court's judgment, should be disturbed.

V. The Auditor Waived Any Right to Challenge the Settlement Agreement or the Retention Agreement.

In addition to the foregoing reasons that summary judgment was proper, the trial court also correctly held that the Auditor waived his right to challenge the Settlement Agreement. "Waiver is a voluntary relinquishment of some known right, benefit or advantage." *Sentinel Indus. Contracting Corp. v. Kimmins Indus. Serv. Corp.*, 743 So. 2d 954, 964 (Miss. 1999). It can be established by a pattern of conduct. *Eastline Corp. v. Marion Apartments, Ltd.*, 524 So. 2d 582, 584 (Miss. 1988); *Mariana v. Hennington*, 90 So. 2d 356, 361-63 (Miss. 1956). *See also Turner v. Wakefield*, 481 So. 2d 846, 848-49 (Miss. 1985). The trial court accurately applied this rule to the undisputed facts of the case.

The undisputed facts prove the Auditor waived any right he ever may have had to challenge the MCI settlement. The Retention Agreement was executed in 2004 and in the public record. The Settlement Agreement was finalized in May 2005 and well-publicized. By June 2005, his office was well aware of the actual Settlement Agreement. On June 28, 2005, Joey Fillingane sent the Auditor's office a letter asking for a review of the settlement. [June 28, 2005 Letter, C.P. 1343]. In October and November 2005, the Auditor's office produced draft reports and received comments. [*See* October 5, 2005 Draft Report, C.P. 1344-56; November 2, 2005 Draft Report, C.P. 1357-67]. These documents show that, in 2005, the Auditor's office was well aware of the Settlement Agreement, retained counsel's contingency agreement, and all pertinent facts related to those contracts. Further, the Legislature received all of its money from MCI and spent it in 2005 and 2006. Yet, it was not until December 2007 that the Auditor instituted this lawsuit. If the Auditor ever had any right to challenge the Settlement Agreement or the Retention Agreement, then he gave that up by waiting too long to challenge them.

It is also worthy of note that, during his thirty month delay, the Auditor issued draft reports revealing this case is driven by politics instead of a correct interpretation of the law. In October 2005, the Auditor said that Miss. Code Ann. § 7-5-7 did not have the meaning he ascribes to it today. His first report explained:

Finding 1: While it appears the Attorney General has the authority under Section 7-5-7, of the MS Code of 1972, as amended, to retain Special Assistant Attorneys General, it is unclear whether the Attorney General has specific legal authority to establish a contingency fee scale for private attorneys retained as Special Assistant Attorneys General.

Recommendation 1: The Mississippi Legislature should clarify the Attorney General's authority for contingency fees for private attorneys retained by the Attorney General.

[October 5, 2005 Draft Report at p. 12, C.P. 1344-56]. His second report made a very similar finding and recommendation and only changed a few words. [November 2, 2005 Draft Report at p. 11, C.P. 1357-67]. Finally, by October 2006, the third report came out and omitted both of the earlier findings and recommendations. [October 19, 2006 Performance Audit, C.P. 1388-1402].

Interestingly, none of the facts changed in 2005, 2006, 2007, or since then.⁹ The Auditor has never come forward with any relevant facts that were not available to him when his first draft came out. The law did not change either. Section 7-5-7 is the same today as it was in 1972. That did stop the Auditor from contradicting his own previous pronouncements of its meaning. Now that he is litigating the issue, and in the face of his earlier reports, the Auditor claims Section 7-5-7 is "plain and unambiguous and conveys a clear directive, it must be strictly construed." [Appellant's Brief at p. 10]. Stated differently, there has been no change in the statute, but there has been a change in how the Auditor interprets it. His waffling and fumbling around on the subject is no excuse for his lengthy delay in filing suit. Rather, it supports the trial court's finding of waiver below and yet another reason the Court should affirm the trial court now.

In sum, the State received MCI's settlement money and the Legislature spent it, with no objection from the Auditor's office. That all occurred nearly two and a half years before the Auditor filed his suit in Hinds County Circuit Court. Nothing prevented the Auditor's office from challenging the contracts sooner. Assuming the Auditor ever had any right to challenge the settlement, he slept on that right. The trial court properly entered summary judgment on the alternative ground of waiver.

⁹ Indeed, the time line of events contained in all three Auditor reports basically set forth all the same facts.

Additionally, on the point of waiver, the Auditor's brief provides another distraction from the real issue at hand. The Auditor erroneously posits that findings by the New York Bankruptcy Court, the United States District Court for Southern District of New York, and the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi established an excuse for his delay. According to him, all of those courts ruled that he did not waive his claims. But that is not what any of the courts determined.

Instead, the three courts – at various points in time *after* the Auditor filed this lawsuit – simply held that they would not hear the dispute. [*See* April 2, 2008 Order on Auditor's Motion to Abstain, C.P. 736-44 & Appellant R.E. 3 (holding "the Court grants the Defendants' Abstention Motion *and does not address any other matter*") (emphasis added); November 17, 2008 Memorandum and Order, C.P. 1116-1126 & Appellant R.E. 4 (affirming Bankruptcy Court Order); and June 11, 2008 Order on Remand, C.P. 147-159 and Appellant R.E. 5 (remanding cause to Hinds County Circuit Court)]. In 2008, the New York Bankruptcy Court abstained from hearing his dispute, and that decision was affirmed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi held that it did not have bankruptcy jurisdiction over the dispute. All these events were subsequent to the belated filing of this lawsuit.

Moreover, none of these federal court rulings in any way validate the Auditor's right to bring suit or prove he timely filed it. A decision to abstain is simply a decision that the court will not hear the dispute. *See, e.g., Lee v. Miller*, 263 B.R. 757, 763 (S.D. Miss. 2001) (federal court abstaining from bankruptcy jurisdiction over dispute and remanding). Likewise, remand of a removed action

is just a finding that the court does not have jurisdiction to hear the lawsuit. See, e.g., Anderson v. First Family Financial Services, Inc., 2001 WL 34403087, at *2 (S.D. Miss. May 25, 2001) (federal court remand after determining bankruptcy jurisdiction was lacking, rendering it powerless to rule on the merits). Neither scenario was a decision on the merits that the Auditor's claim was not waived. The federal court orders cited by the Auditor do not save his claims from waiver here.

In sum, the trial court's holding that the Auditor waived any rights he may have had is another reason it correctly granted summary judgment below, and should be affirmed here.

VI. The Auditor Has no Remedy under Constitutional or Mississippi Contract Law.

Summary judgment was also properly entered against the Auditor because – in addition to all the reasons discussed above that his arguments are meritless – the relief sought is unsupported by general Mississippi contract law and would violate the constitutional prohibition on impairment of contracts. As such, the Auditor has no viable remedy. Again, the trial court may be affirmed on any grounds offered by the Appellee and sufficient to sustain the judgment below. *See McDaniel*, 938 So. 2d at 247; *Ferguson*, 448 So. 2d at 275. No provisions of the Settlement Agreement or Retention Agreement may properly be voided. Furthermore, it would violate retained counsel's constitutional rights to pay them less than the parties agreed or divest them of fees that are their property.

A. No Contract Provisions are Void.

It is true that courts may void provisions of a contract that are illegal or contrary to public policy. But that general proposition should not be used to create the result the Auditor seeks in this case for at least two reasons. The Auditor's argument that "no court will lend its aid to a litigant who bases his cause on an illegal act" is misleading. [Appellant's Brief at p. 10]. First, the authorities he cites are not on point. *See Price v. Purdue Pharma Co.*, 920 So. 2d 479, 484 (Miss. 2006) (holding plaintiff could not maintain action for damages based on addiction to controlled substance he illegally obtained); *Morrissey v. Bologna*, 123 So. 2d 537, 542-43 (Miss. 1960) (holding securities for debt based upon sales of illegal liquor void); and *Lowenberg v. Klein*, 87 So. 653, 654-55 (Miss. 1921) (holding party could not sue for debt based upon illegal liquor transaction). The instant case does not involve criminal statutes relating to illegal drugs, or illegal (at those times) liquor sales where the statutes at issue specifically voided such sales. There was no "illegal" act committed by retained counsel or the Attorney General.

Furthermore, in all of the Mississippi authority cited by the Auditor, the alleged wrongdoer was seeking to *enforce* a contract or assert a legal right. Voidability was a defense to the action, not a right of action to be asserted by a stranger to a contract. None of the parties to the contracts here are seeking to void any of their provisions.

Second, if there is room for the Auditor to argue that any contract provisions should be voided, the applicable principle is that contracts which merely conflict with statutory procedural requirements are <u>not</u> void. *Seymour v. Evans*, 608 So. 2d 1141, 1145-46 (Miss. 1992). In *Seymour*, several plaintiffs bought properties and later attempted to make improvements on their parcels. *Id.* at 1142. They were denied a permit because the land had not be subdivided consistent with county ordinances. *Id.* Plaintiffs sued the seller and others claiming the conveyances were void due to the seller's violation of the ordinances. *Id.* The trial court granted relief and voided the transactions. *Id.*

On appeal, a unanimous Court reversed and rendered the trial court's judgment. *Id.* at 1148. As to the plaintiff's voidability argument, the Court reasoned the deeds were "valid and enforceable so long as the ordinances they are alleged to violate regulate actions which are merely malum in prohibitum." *Id.* at 1146. As long as the seller's acts were not "inherently evil," the deal was valid. *Id.*

In this case, the parties' actions were consistent with – at the very least – a permissible construction of the Attorney General's authority under Mississippi law. There certainly was not anything "inherently evil" in obtaining over a \$100 million for the State or MCI's separate deal to pay retained counsel's attorneys' fees. As such, there are no valid grounds to void the Settlement Agreement or the Retention Agreement based on "illegality."

B. The Auditor's Proposed Relief Would Violate the Constitution, Contract Law, and Cost the State Millions.

The Auditor's complaints are also entirely misplaced, and his proposed remedy would cause the State severe monetary damage, for the following reason. If the contingency fee funds are taken by the Auditor and handed to the Legislature, then the Legislature must turn right back around and pay *all* the money back to retained counsel. There can be no discretion in the matter; neither the Auditor nor the Legislature are authorized to breach the contingency fee contract or any other contract. To the extent the Auditor intends that retained counsel be paid less than what was contracted after "running it by" the Legislature and a Governor's veto,¹⁰ that would violate retained counsel's constitutional property rights.

¹⁰ The Auditor does not effectively argue that the amount of retained counsel's contingency fee recovery was unreasonable. He cannot credibly do so. The percentage recovery contracted for by retained counsel in this case (less than seventeen percent) is far less than other percentage fees approved by this Court – in far less complicated legal matters. *See, e.g., In re Guardianship of Savell*, 876 So. 2d 308, 315 (Miss. 2004) (holding that chancery court's reduction of contingency recovery from contracted rate of forty percent to thirty-three and one-third percent in personal injury matter was abuse of discretion).

This is so because the Constitution prevents the State from breaching its contracts without recourse. In *Franklin v. Ellis*, the trial court enjoined commissioners of the Yazoo-Mississippi Delta levee district from paying the salaries of employees of the levee board. 130 Miss. 164, 39 So. 738 (1920). The salaries were to be paid under two-year contracts entered into by the board. *Id* at 183. Subsequently, the Legislature changed the number of, and salaries to be paid to, board employees. *Id*. The trial court's injunction blocked payments to the employees in the amounts contracted for prior to the Legislature's action. *Id* at 184. On appeal, the trial court's ruling was reversed and rendered because the contracts could not be annulled by a subsequent act of the Legislature due to the Constitutional bar on impairment of contracts. *Id* at 188. *See also* U.S. CONST., art. I, § 10; MISS. CONST., art. 3, § 5; *Hall v. Wisconsin*, 103 U.S. 5, 7, 25 L.Ed. 302 (1880) (holding legislative act nullifying contract for services between private party and government produced unconstitutional result); *Tucker Printing Co. v. Attala County Bd*. of Supervisors, 171 Miss. 608, 158 So. 336 (1934) (reasoning that subsequent legislative action could not undo contract and relieve board of supervisors of obligation to pay for materials previously purchased by it).

Here, if retained counsel's money is diverted to the Legislature, then the State could suffer more protracted litigation and the same problem presented in *Franklin*. The State could not renege on the contract by failing to appropriate the money or passing some other law. In short, if the Auditor could somehow reclaim the money paid to retained counsel by MCI, then the Legislature would simply have to repay every penny of it, and likely more, to retained counsel. Any other reaction would violate constitutional law. Thus, the Auditor's proposed remedy is as empty as the reasoning it is founded upon. Additionally, undoing the deal between MCI and retained counsel for the attorneys' fees would force retained counsel to press its counterclaim against the State. MCI paid retained counsel \$14 million. By retained counsel's calculation under the Retention Agreement and based on what the State recovered from MCI, they were due \$16,890,575.73 when the State and MCI settled the claims. Retained counsel filed a contingent counterclaim to that effect in the court below. [*See* Amended Answer and Counterclaim, C.P. 814-1038]. The counterclaim was moot when the trial court correctly threw out the Auditor's claims. But, if the Auditor's claims are now found by this Court to have any merit, ironically, it may come with a bill of at least \$2,890,575.73 to the State instead of being a \$14 million windfall obtained by the Auditor. The Court should not permit the Auditor to shoot the State in the foot.

CONCLUSION

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